
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

LB/COUNCIL/AG 

Please ask for: Lorraine Bush, Democratic Services Manager 
 
5 February 2021 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL - 15 FEBRUARY 2021 
 
Dear Councillor  
 
You are invited to attend a virtual meeting of the Council on Monday 15 February 2021 at 
6.30 p.m. 
 
This will be a meeting held in line with The Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) England & 
Wales Regulations 2020. 
 
Members joining instructions to follow.  

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 

 

 
AGENDA 

PART I - Preliminaries 
 
A. To sign the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 23 November 2020.  

 
B. To receive apologies for absence. 
 
C. To receive communications (if any) from the Mayor and the Chief Executive. 
 

D. To answer questions (if any) from elected members pursuant to Rule 11 of the 
Council’s Rules of Procedure (as amended by the Protocol and Procedure 
Rules for Remote Meetings). 

 

Public Document Pack



E. To answer questions (if any) from members of the public pursuant to Rule 10 
of the Council’s Rules of Procedure (as amended by the Protocol and 
Procedure Rules for Remote Meetings). 
 

F. To receive declarations by Members of any interests in respect of items on 
the agenda. 

 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   PROPOSAL FOR BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL TO BECOME A 
SHAREHOLDER IN PUBLIC SECTOR PARTNERSHIP SERVICES LIMITED 
(Pages 15 - 56) 
 

 (Report by the Assistant Director – Support Services and Partnerships) 
 
Appendix A is exempt from publication under paragraphs 3 and 4 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Jonathan Noble 
 

 
 

 
Questions from Members of the Council and the public must be received by 5 p.m. two clear 
working days prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this meeting is  

5 p.m. on Wednesday 10 February 2021. 
 

 

Members of the public: 
 
This meeting will be held virtually via Zoom and streamed live via the following link. 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCsz_igjTc1WQX-EZWY8rQ9w 

 
 

 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston  Telephone 01205 314224 or  
e-mail: lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 
 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCsz_igjTc1WQX-EZWY8rQ9w
mailto:lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk


BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
At the meeting of Boston Borough Council held remotely via Zoom, on Monday, 23rd 
November, 2020 at 6.30 pm 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Councillor Anton Dani), in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Richard Austin BEM, Alan Bell, 
Peter Bedford, Michael Cooper, George Cornah, Anne Dorrian, Deborah Evans, 
Paul Goodale, Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, Martin Howard, Jonathan Noble, 
Frank Pickett, Brian Rush, Judith Skinner, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, 
Chelcei Trafford, Peter Watson, Judith Welbourn, Nigel Welton and Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive (Place) & Monitoring Officer, Deputy Chief 
Executive (People), Section 151 Officer, Assistant Director - Support Services & 
Partnership, Licensing & Land Charges Manager, Council Tax and Benefits Manager 
and Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 
113   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting of the Council, held on 26 October 2020, were taken as read 
and signed by the Mayor as a correct record, subject to the name of the public 
questioner being amended from Councillor Rush.  
 
Following a question raised at the last meeting of the Council, the Monitoring Officer 
confirmed that there was no provision within the Constitution for a Chairman’s 
introductory address to be longer than the allocated five minutes. 
 
114   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors David Brown and Viven Edge. 
 
115   COMMUNICATIONS 

 
There were no communications.  
 
116   DEPUTATIONS AND PETITIONS 

 
The Chief Executive reported there were no deputations or petitions.  
 
117   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS 

 
The Chief Executive reported there were questions from Councillors Stephen Woodliffe, 
Brian Rush, Peter Bedford, Peter Watson and Anne Dorrian. 
 
Question asked by Councillor Stephen Woodliffe pursuant to paragraph 10 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“What advice and guidance have you given or intend to give the Mayor, Cllr Anton Dani, 

regarding his revelation in the C&C Overview and Scrutiny Meeting on Thursday 12th 

Page 1

Agenda Item A.



November 2020 that he intends to visit Boston, Massachusetts, in his official capacity 

with the Chains of Office, but apparently at his own expense?” 

 
Response by the Leader  
 
“Thank you for your question Councillor Woodliffe. I’m sure Cllr Woodliffe would agree 
with me the position of Mayor of our town is a special honour received by Members of 
this Council.  I applaud the enthusiasm of our current Mayor who under these unusual 
circumstances has served longer than most. 
 
If the Mayor is in an official capacity and the rules of this Council are followed, then a 
Mayor would be permitted to travel with an element of sponsorship.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Woodliffe pursuant to paragraph 10.6 
of the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
Thank you for your response.  As you know there have been a number of occasions 
when the Mayor has been injudicious in his choice of language.  Indeed I had occasion 
to write to you on 3rd September to express concern at the comments made by the 
Mayor at a meeting of the Corporate and Community Committee on 27 August which 
was an unbridled and unjustified rant against officers.  We are also aware of comments 
made in public targeting the travelling community.  Illconceived remarks are 
inappropriate in any context but when they are from the mouth of the Mayor, the first 
citizen of the Borough, the damage caused to Boston is incalculable. What action plan 
and training do you have in mind to kerb the Mayor’s indulgences. 
 
Response by the Leader  
 
I am very keen on training and development of all Councillors and am sure we can put 
together a way of training all in the future.  It is so easy to get carried away with oneself 
and I’m sure the Mayor did not do it intentionally, he is a very passionate man. 
 
Question asked by Councillor Brian Rush pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“I was genuinely shocked when I received an eleventh hour email from you, suggesting 
that you had been made aware of my efforts to locate, what I have grown to refer too, a 
consignment of bespoke Market Stall, Frames and Covers, which this Council it seems 
purchased some time back.   
Would you kindly explain to me, and of course the people we serve whose money it 
was, that we used to purchase this equipment, and explain to them, how most of it now 
seems to have vanished, and ultimately whose responsibility it was, to have taken care 
of it?” 
 
Response by Councillor Tracey Abbott 
 
“Thank you for your question.  
  
The Council purchased ‘pop up’ gazebo type stalls a number of years ago for use on the 
Bargate Green Market.  
 

Page 2



Full Council 
23 November 2020 

 

 
 

In 2015/16 the market reverted to the use of standard market stalls as the gazebo style 
provided not to be fit for purpose. Gazebos are a much lighter construct than the 
traditional market stalls, and proved to be not as robust in windy conditions and when 
being put up and down a number of times each week.  
 
The gazebos suffered damage, and whilst broken gazebos were initially used as 
replacement parts, they are no longer able to be used safely as a market stall. There is 
one gazebo available for use, which is used for events on occasion.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Rush pursuant to paragraph 10.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
I met with Councillor Abbott and she told me she was investigating this as well. Did you 
know that £50,000 of rate payers money was squandered on these stalls and 
transportation element.  There is no sign of where they are or any receipts for metal 
recycling, which in my opinion for the amount would be quite lucrative.  Are you 
prepared to seek a scrutiny meeting for this item, Bargate Green Co-operative Group to 
look at how much money was spent on this project. 
 
Response by Councillor Abbott  
 
I don’t recall meeting you previously.  If you let me have the information you hold I will 
look into it for you. 
 
(Councillor Rush corrected his supplementary to having written to Councillor Abbott) 
 
Question asked by Councillor Brian Rush pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
I assume you have acted as an adjudicator on the Senior Officer Employment Panel.  
This is an occasion when specific senior posts become vacant and a cross section of 
elected members are chosen to evaluate the applicant’s credentials.  Do you consider 
this process that the Council has relied upon for so long, is fit for purpose? 
 
The Monitoring Officer informed the meeting that the question asked by 
Councillor Rush was not the question as submitted, therefore should be 
disregarded.  
 
Question asked by Councillor Peter Bedford pursuant to paragraph 10 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“As this will be the last week of the Brown Bin Collections could you please furnish us all 
with the out turn numbers of householders who did not renew their payments this year 
and is it the reason for increased fly tips in garden waste.” 
 
Response by Councillor Yvonne Stevens 
 
“Thank you for your question.  
 
In 2019/20 we had 12,453 subscribers to the garden waste collection service, and in 
2020/21 we have 11,621. Although fly-tips of garden waste have increased from April to 

Page 3



October when compared to the same period compared with last year, it only accounts 
for 3% of the number of fly-tips collected. The 140% increase in fly-tips seen over this 
period is primarily due to black-bagged waste, and other household waste (furniture, 
mattresses, wood, toys etc).” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Bedford pursuant to paragraph 10.6 
of the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“When the budget for 2020/21 was voted through, I asked the then Finance Portfolio 
Holder, Councillor Martin Howard, if there would be a price lock on the brown bins as it 
was quite a large increase, for the next four years, to which I didn’t get an answer and 
still haven’t. He informed me that he had been instructed by the Leader not to answer 
any questions.  Can you please confirm your support for no further increases in the next 
three years for this excellent, but slightly overpriced service, as 15% in loss of service 
has proven.” 
 
Response by Councillor Stevens 
 
“I would like to say I totally support you, but I will need to speak to the officers 
concerned.  Please bear with me and I will provide a written response.” 
 
Question asked by Councillor Peter Watson pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“While Covid 19 has changed the way we all have to operate, there has been a very 
large increase in fly tipping offences around the Borough that are being reported every 
day. Is this council currently seeing any reduction of such offences, and if not, why after 
having 8 months of this, are we not seeing an improvement with this diabolical situation?  
What remedial action has been taken to at least reduce this disgusting plague of fly 
tipping?” 
 
Response by Councillor Yvonne Stevens 
 
“Thank you for your question.  Although we have seen a small reduction in numbers of 
fly-tips in October (253, compared to 268 in September) the trend since March is 
showing fly-tipping numbers increasing across our area, and this is being seen in many 
areas across the country. 
 
To address this increase we have endeavoured to raise awareness of responsible waste 
disposal, and also of the enforcement powers available to the Council. An environmental 
crime leaflet aimed at reducing fly-tipping was sent to all households in the Borough at 
the start of lockdown, and over recent months the Council has installed mobile CCTV in 
two hot spot locations, taken part in two radio interviews, participated in a feature on 
Look North, and been featured in the TV programme Rip Off Britain; all with positive 
coverage.  
 
On Facebook alone, 67 posts have been made relating to fly-tipping, with an estimated 
total reach over 361,000 people. In addition these messages have been pushed out on 
Twitter, and Instagram. As a result of this awareness raising activity, the local media has 
published additional messages. And through this period the Council has also continued 
to issue Fixed Penalty Notices for fly tipping.” 

Page 4



Full Council 
23 November 2020 

 

 
 

 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Watson pursuant to paragraph 10.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
Thank you for your reply, I have to say all credit to the officers and employees for all 
their efforts in dealing with this problem.  However, having recently attended an inquiry 
evening on the Boston Household Waste facility and listened to, what I believe, was 
excuse after excuse for not tasking all types of waste for customers this facility is not fit 
for purpose. Has Councillor Stevens expressed her outrage that this facility is a major 
indirect contributor to the scourge of fly tipping which costs the Council and tax payers 
so much. 
 
Response by Councillor Stevens 
 
“In relation to what I call the ‘tip’ I speak from personal experience.  I tried to book a slot 
to take my garden waste and made an operator error so telephoned the service who 
talked me through the process and successfully booked in.   
 
Since then I have booked on line twice, I don’t see your issue, I am a bit of a dinosaur so 
if I can do it so can anyone.  If not people can telephone the help line. It is possible to 
book a day to take all items at once.  I understand the facility was closed last Sunday 
due to a covid issue.” 
 
Question asked by Councillor Anne Dorrian pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
 “To the Finance Portfolio Holder: Please provide an updated estimate of the savings 
required for this financial year and next financial year; and specify which areas of growth 
or cuts have been identified in order to balance the budget.” 
 
Response by Councillor Jonathan Noble  
 
“In terms of the current year, in order to balance the budget £500k of transformation 
savings were identified as part of last year’s budget setting process. As a result of 
Covid, the latest position being reported to Cabinet is that we have pressures that total 
approximately £1.8m. Having now received 4 tranches of government funding that total 
around £1.2m, we have a predicted deficit on the budget on £600k. We are though 
expecting a further grant towards the end of this month for around £425k, so this figure 
should reduce to around £175k. Whilst this is a very positive outcome in view of the 
pressures that Covid has caused, it does not take into account the effect of the current 
lockdown, which cannot be accurately quantified at this stage.  
For next year, the identified gap is around £900k. In order to bridge the gap, it is 
expected that savings from the Strategic Management Alliance will total around £400k, 
and that the delay in the fair funding review will defer an expected reduction of £500k of 
government funding until 2022/23. The Council has the option of engaging with PSPS 
and, if this option is taken up, it has the possibility of leading to significant savings for the 
Council. This though is reliant on member support from all parties. 
 
I would also like to stress that the significant risk to all of this and our finances generally, 
is the government funding announcements that we are expecting in the next month or 
so.” 

Page 5



 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Dorrian pursuant to paragraph 10.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“Thank you for your answer, I know you are on top of the finances and can add up.  It’s 
your Government we are talking about, your represent the Conservative party, you are 
an apologist for the Conservative Party.  When are you going to stop making excuses 
for ten years of austerity we have had.  I have been doing some research, 2020 local 
Councils have lost 60p in the pound since 2010.  When are you going to start lobbying 
Government to give a fair settlement and stop slashing and burning, because if you go 
down the PSPS route after the strategic alliance it will be a case of the last one out turn 
out the lights, there will be nothing left.” 
 
Response by Councillor Noble 
 
“A briefing was held on PSPS which will be a matter for all Councillors to consider the 
evidence and whether or not to engage, it would be premature for me to comment.  This 
is a separate system of payment not as at present, the Council currently spends 80 to 
90 percent of its budget on staff pay, if savings were to be made Councillors may wish to 
consider this.  
 
You say I am a representative of the Conservative party which is true, you said I am an 
apologist for the Conservative party, which is not true. The Conservative party is a broad 
church of opinion, and people may consider me to be on the right of the party. 
 
The 10 years of austerity is a misnomer, spending has increased year on year.  You 
under estimate the amount of help received from Government.  The economic damage 
caused by the two lockdowns has been amply compensated by Government. We have 
received £5,311,000 Section 31 monies; MHCLG covid-19 receipts of £1,185K in four 
tranches; grant support for local businesses totalling £14,430K, which rightfully 
compensate for the financial difficulties encountered. 
 
I sent you an e-mail on 9 November regarding the Council’s reserves which are healthy 
in £13,349K of earmarked reserves; £16,507K of useable reserves; £22,267K of Council 
reserves and £5,760K of un-useable reserves. However, we are hoping not to have to 
use reserve monies. 
 
With regard to potential growth, with three vaccines are coming on stream the economic 
situation will improve and it is anticipated that fees and charges and income will increase 
across service areas.  It has been difficult times and we look forward to a positive future.  
If we all follow Government guidance and aim to get back to normal as soon as 
possible.”  
 
Question asked by Councillor Anne Dorrian pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“A key element of Performance and Improvement is communication, especially with 
residents of the Borough of Boston. What plans do you have, if any, to develop the 
current communication strategy?” 
 
 

Page 6



Full Council 
23 November 2020 

 

 
 

Response by the Leader  
 
“Thank you for your question Councillor Dorrian. 
 
The Council places great importance on its communication with residents, stakeholders 
and its workforce.  
 
Since the alliance was formed we have developed a single communications service for 
both councils giving more resilience and focus to our communications activity.  This has 
been particularly helpful given our communications team has been a key part of our 
response to Covid-19.  
 
Our teams continue to identify and exploit new means to engage our audiences and as 
a result our strategy is continuing to evolve and develop in a positive way.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Dorrian pursuant to paragraph 10.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“Thank you for your response, I m delighted to hear the Council places a great 
importance on communication with its residents, stakeholders and the workforce.  
However, I am sad to say this has not been my experience especially with you 
Councillor Skinner. 
 
The people of Skirbeck elected me to represent them, to look out for them, be cognisant 
with issues and hold you and the administration to account.  In this regard, in the past 
three months I have written to you on five separate topics, I received a partial response 
to only two.  In total I have written to you seventeen times to remind you I am waiting for 
a response, I have still not received a reply.  Could you please explain why you are 
ignoring me and all residents of Skirbeck ward.” 
 
Response by the Leader  
 
“I issue weekly updates with one message to staff, residents and Councillors.  I write 
back on any issues not included in those updates. Regular briefings are held for staff 
and Members all information is available there should you want to attend.  The briefings 
are also recorded for those who are unable to attend.” 
 
118   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
The Chief Executive reported there was one question from a member of the public. 
 
Question asked by Mr Darron Abbott pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules of 
Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Recently Boston Borough Council publicised that since September 2019 the fact that 
they had issued 836 fixed penalty notices for fly tipping. 
 
I know of one individual that has been reported for fly tipping on 5 separate occasion, 
one of those reports being made by a portfolio holder. These reports have been 
supported by evidence, I attach a letter from Christian Allen dated 5 June 2020 that 

Page 7



confirms the actions of this individual was fly tipping but no action would be taken as it 
occurred during the first lockdown.  
 
The incidents have continued and have been reported but no action has been taken. 
Councillor Stevens perhaps you would like to explain to everyone why Boston Borough 
Council are selective in issue of penalties and how do we all avail ourselves of this 
special treatment?” 
 
Response by Councillor Yvonne Stevens  
 
“Thank you for your question. The letter you refer to sets out the council’s position in 
June during the first lockdown, and although the Council had limited enforcement 
capacity, the fly swat crew continued to collect fly-tips and retained any evidence they 
found within these fly-tips to enable enforcement action to be taken at a later date. 
 
The very nature of garden waste is non-hazardous and as garden waste fly-tips are 
highly unlikely to contain evidence of the perpetrator, the priority for the reduced team 
was the collection of putrescible wastes and other wastes blocking pavements for 
example, that were an obvious hazard to public health. 
 
You have provided information on alleged fly-tipping of garden waste and rubble at 
Garfitt’s Lane, and responses have been provided to you. For clarity, these incidents 
have been investigated but officers have been unable to determine who had fly-tipped 
the garden waste. Appropriate action has been taken as far as possible.  
 
I would ask anyone that if they have tangible evidence of a fly-tipper, such as a witness 
statement where the fly-tipping event has been witnessed, or car number plate, then 
please send that information to flyswat@boston.gov.uk and this will be acted upon. The 
Council has an exemplary record in both enforcement against fly-tippers and in the 
speed of removal of fly-tips.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Mr. Abbott pursuant to paragraph 11.8 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“I thank Councillor Stephens answer. I would have been nice if she had actually 
answered the question herself rather than taking the officers report ( I know how this 
works) If she had looked into the matter herself she would know evidence had been 
provided and all an investigating officer would have been given by myself and her fellow 
cabinet member. I ask Councillor Stevens  is this a case of who you are depends on 
whether you get penalised?” 

Response by Councillor Stevens  

“Thank you for your supplementary question.  I can confirm it is not a case of who you 
are depends on whether you get penalised.  All reports of alleged fly tips where there is 
evidence are investigated.” 
 
119   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
No declarations of interest were made.  
 
 

Page 8

mailto:flyswat@boston.gov.uk


Full Council 
23 November 2020 

 

 
 

120   OUTSTANDING APPOINTMENTS TO CHAIRMANSHIPS AND EXTERNAL 
ORGANISATIONS 
 

The Monitoring Officer introduced a report setting out the appointments to the positions 
of Chairman of the Environment and Performance Committee, Vice-Chairman of the 
Planning Committee and representatives to the Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board 
which had been deferred from the meeting of the Council held on 26 October 2020.  
 
The Monitoring Officer suggested the expedient method of voting on the appointment of 
Chairman of the Environment and Performance Committee and the Vice-Chairman of 
the Planning Committee would be to vote by naming preferred candidate as there were 
two nominees for each position. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Tom Ashton, seconded by Councillor Stephen 
Woodliffe and  
 

 
RESOLVED that the vote on the appointments of the Chairman of the Environment 
and Performance Committee and the Vice-Chairman of the Planning Committee be 
taken by naming the preferred candidate. 
 

 
Members then commented on the experience, skills and knowledge the nominees would 
bring to the roles. 
 
The Monitoring Officer provided clarification on the Statutory Guidance in respect of 
Scrutiny Committees, specifically that the guidance did not prohibit the Chairman of a 
scrutiny committee presiding over a relative, however it strongly recommended that this 
should not be the case.  
 
On being put to the vote it was  
 

 
RESOLVED that  
 

1. Councillor Judith Skinner be appointed Chairman of the Environment and 
Performance Committee to hold office whilst she remains a Councillor, until 
the next Annual Meeting of the Council or until the appointment of a 
successor.  
 

2. Councillor Alison Austin be appointed Vice-Chairman of the Planning 
Committee to hold office whilst she remains a Councillor, until the next 
Annual Meeting of the Council or until the appointment of a successor.  

 

 
Consideration was then given to the Council’s appointments to the Black Sluice Internal 
Drainage Board and it was moved by Councillor Tom Ashton and seconded by 
Councillor Deborah Evans that Councillors Tom Ashton, Richard Austin, Peter Bedford, 
Michael Cooper, Frank Pickett, Paul Skinner, and Mr. Michael Brookes (lay member) be 

Page 9



appointed as the Council’s representatives to serve on the Black Sluice Internal 
Drainage Board. 
 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Neill Hastie and seconded by Councillor Brian 
Rush that Councillors Peter Bedford, Michael Cooper, Frank Pickett, Paul Skinner, Brian 
Rush, Peter Watson and Mr. Michael Brookes (lay member) be appointed as the 
Council’s representatives to serve on the Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board. 
 
On being put to the vote the amendment was lost. 
 
The substantive motion was then put to the vote and it was  
 

 
RESOLVED that Councillors Tom Ashton, Richard Austin, Peter Bedford, Michael 
Cooper, Frank Pickett, Paul Skinner, and Mr. Michael Brookes (lay member) be 
appointed as the Council’s representatives to serve on the Black Sluice Internal 
Drainage Board whilst they remain Members of the Council, until the next Annual 
Meeting of the Council or until the appointment of their successors. 
 

 
Councillor Peter Bedford offered to seek agreement from the Black Sluice IDB for 
Councillors Rush and Watson to be appointed to a Works Committee which would give 
them an insight into the workings of the drainage board. 
 
Councillor Rush thanked Councillor Bedford but declined the offer as he would be taking 
the matter further as he believed he had been subject to an act of discrimination. 
 

(Councillor Anne Dorrian left the meeting at 8.20 p.m.) 
 
121   LICENSING ACT 2003 - DRAFT STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 

 
Councillor Frank Pickett, Chairman of the Licensing Committee, introduced a report by 
the Licensing and Land Charges Manager on the Statement of Licensing Policy which 
was required to be consulted on and published every five years.  
 
The report stated that the Council as the Licensing Authority was required to publish a 
statement setting out its policy for the exercise of its functions under the Licensing Act 
2003 for the sale of alcohol and the provision of regulated entertainment and late night 
refreshment with a view to promoting the licensing objectives of: 
 

 The prevention of crime and disorder 

 The prevention of public nuisance 

 Public safety; and 

 The protection of children from harm.  
 
The revised Statement of Licensing Policy, attached at Appendix A of the report, had 
been consulted on and where appropriate updated to reflect the consultation responses 
received.   
 
The final draft Statement was considered by the Licensing Committee on 11 November 
2020 and recommended to full Council for adoption. 

Page 10



Full Council 
23 November 2020 

 

 
 

 
It was noted that the Licensing Act 2003 was permissive legislation and it was the duty 
of the Licensing Committee to uphold the licensing objectives.  Evidence was required of 
any contraventions by licence holders before action could be taken to suspend or revoke 
any licences.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Frank Pickett, seconded by Councillor Deborah Evans and  
 

 
RESOLVED that the Licensing Act 2003 Statement of Licensing Policy, as set out 
at Appendix A of the report, be adopted.  
 

 
 
122   COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME - 2021/22 

 
Councillor Jonathan Noble introduced a report by the Council Tax and Benefits Manager 
on the operation of the Council Tax Support scheme to date and the outcome of the 
consultation process for the 2020/21 scheme. 
 
The report set out the background to the Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme which had 
been in operation since 2013/14 under the provisions of the Welfare Reform Act.  
 
It was accepted that the outturn performance of the adopted schemes from 2013/14 
onwards were broadly in line with original assumptions.  The full service for Universal 
Credit was rolled out for the Boston area on 12 September 2018, although this was 
currently only for new claims.  The migration of existing claims was not due for 
completion until 2023.  
 
Since the introduction of universal credit it had become apparent that those people in 
receipt, together with earnings and council tax support could have their claims 
reassessed every month.  If the earnings increased or decreased over that month, the 
assessment for universal credit would change, consequently creating a reassessment 
for council tax support.  If council tax instalments changed some applicants may not 
receive a council tax reminder for 12 months.  There were currently 900 cases where 
the situation could apply.  
 
Whilst the new regulations provided councils with flexibility to set up their own local 
arrangements, the Government expressed clear intentions in relation to certain aspects 
of a local scheme, including:-  
 

 For pensioners there should be no change in the level of awards as a result of the 
reform.  This included both existing and new claimants. 

 Councils were required to also consider ensuring support for other vulnerable 
groups. 

 Local schemes should support work incentives and in particular avoid 
disincentives to move into work.  

 
The 2021/22 council tax support scheme was consulted on the following options:-  
 

Page 11



Option 1  
 
Continuation of the current scheme, as it was, with a ‘no change’ approach, uprating the 
amounts used in the calculation of Council Tax Support for working age claimants in line 
with Department for Work and Pensions uprating for working age social security benefits 
and non-dependent deductions.  
 
This option would maintain a consistent approach to Boston’s CTS scheme since its 
introduction in 2013/14.  It would continue to recognise the additional needs of the 
vulnerable through the approach to its calculation. 
 
Any further reduction in grant funding or increase in CTS awards would need to be 
found from other budgets areas or service cuts.   Any consultation process would 
include this as an option with views on how or what services would be affected. 
 
Option 2 

 
Uprate in line with the Department of Work and Pensions uprating’s for working age 
social security benefits and non- dependant deductions, but assess working age 
applicants who are working and in receipt of universal credit every 3 months. 

 
If an applicant had a significant change in their income within the 3 month period the 
case should be reassessed, this will allow the applicant more consistency with their 
entitlement and allow the council tax to become due and if the need should arise place 
the account into the standard recovery cycle. 

 
This option would maintain a consistent approach to Boston’s CTS scheme since its 
introduction in 2013/14, however it would alleviate the challenges received by the 
introduction of universal credit. It continues to recognise the additional needs of the 
vulnerable through the approach to its calculation. 

 
Any further reduction in the grant funding or increase in CTS awards would need to be 
found from other budget areas or service cuts. It would reduce the need for monthly 
recalculations which could offer administration savings. Any consultation process should 
include this as an option with views on how or what services should be affected. 
 
Option 3 
 
Continuation of the 2020/21 scheme, but not apply any up-ratings.  This would result in 
the up-rating adjustments not aligning with those used nationally. 
 
The Council was required to consult with major preceptors and the public in terms of any 
scheme changes and the responses were made available as part of the decision making 
process.  The consultation exercise with major preceptors and other interested parties 
had run between 4th September and 2nd October 2020.  
 
The consultation focused on whether the Council should continue with its current 
scheme for 2021/22, and asked respondents if they felt this was a fair scheme.  Thirty 
seven public replies had been received with 72% of those in agreement with the 
proposal to continue with the current scheme.  The responses from major preceptors 

Page 12



Full Council 
23 November 2020 

 

 
 

also confirmed their agreement to support a scheme that did not increase the financial 
burden and continued to help balance budgets.  
 
The report had been considered by the Corporate and Community Committee on 15 
October 2020 and Cabinet on 21 October 2020 and recommended that option two, a 
continuation of the current scheme, but with 3 monthly assessments for applicants who 
were working and in receipt of universal credit, should be referred to Council for final 
approval. 
 
Members commended Option 2 to Full Council as it protected vulnerable people and 
was a positive way forward to give claimants the ability to better budget their finances. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathan Noble, seconded by Councillor Judith 
Welbourn and  
 

 
RESOLVED that Option 2 as set out in the report, be adopted, a continuation of 
the current Council Tax Support Scheme uprating in line with the Department of 
Work and Pensions uprating’s for working age social security benefits and non- 
dependant deductions, but assess working age applicants who are working and in 
receipt of universal credit every 3 months.  
 

 
 
123   CORPORATE STRATEGY/PRIORITIES 2020-2024 

 
Councillor Nigel Welton introduced a report by the Assistant Director – Organisation and 
Corporate Services, on a proposed Corporate Strategy for the period 2020 – 2024.  
 
The report stated that, at its meeting held on 9 September, Cabinet had approved the 
draft Corporate Strategy to be published for consultation purposes, focusing on the four 
priorities of: 
 

 People 

 Future prosperity and growth 

 Environmental awareness and accountability 

 Delivering high quality services and maximising the use of technology to support 
residents.  

 
The public consultation had been undertaken between 10 and 30 September by means 
of a survey published on the Council’s website, distribution to local community groups, 
partner agencies, and shared via social media.  A total of 57 responses had been 
received and the results were set out in appendix C of the report.  The document had 
also been considered by the One Voice Forum (Staff Forum) and comments included in 
appendix C.  
 
The Corporate and Community Committee had considered the draft Strategy at its 
meeting on 27 August and comments were attached at Appendix B. 
 

Page 13



Responses from the consultation exercise had helped shape the final version of the 
Strategy presented at appendix A to the report.  
 
The Corporate Strategy/Priorities had been further considered by Cabinet at its meeting 
on 21 October 2002 and recommended to Council for approval. 
 
Members expressed their support for the Corporate Strategy recognising it as an 
inspirational document which was understandable and easily read. The priorities 
reflected the ambitions of the Council particularly for future prosperity and growth.  
 
However, it was noted that improvements in the road infrastructure would be 
instrumental in working towards realising the priorities, which was not within the gift of 
the Borough Council. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Nigel Welton, seconded by Councillor Paul Skinner 
and  
 

 
RESOLVED that the Corporate Strategy/Priorities as set out at Appendix A of the 
report, be approved.  
 

 
 
124   ANNUAL SCRUTINY REPORT 2019-20 

 
Councillor Judith Skinner introduced the Annual Scrutiny Report for 2019-20, which set 
out details of the overview and scrutiny function; the work programmes for the two 
scrutiny committees for 2019-20, review work undertaken by the Task and Finish 
Groups and details of the call in function.  
 
The draft Annual Scrutiny Report had been considered by the Corporate and 
Community Committee on 15 October 2020 and the Environment and Performance 
Committee on 3 November 2020 and recommended to Council for approval and 
publication on the Council’s website. 
 
Members moved a vote of thanks to the Democratic Services Officers for their hard work 
and adapting to the new ways of remote working which had enabled the scrutiny 
committees to carry on with their work. 
 
Tribute was paid personally to Janette Collier, Senior Democratic Services Officer, and 
Councillors extended their best wishes for her forthcoming retirement.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Judith Skinner, seconded by Councillor Stephen 
Woodliffe and  
 

 
RESOLVED that the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report for 2019-20 be 
approved for publication.  
 

 
 

(The meeting ended at 9.25 pm) 

Page 14



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 15 February 2021 

SUBJECT: Proposal for Boston BC to become a shareholder in Public Sector 

Partnership Services Limited 

KEY DECISION: 

 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

Yes 

 

Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder – Finance & 

Commercial  

REPORT AUTHOR: 

 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

Phil Perry – Assistant Director – Support Services & Partnerships 

 

N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT The main report in not exempt, however, appendix A is exempt 

from publication under paragraphs 3 and 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 

12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 

SUMMARY 

Public Sector Partnership Services Limited (PSPS) is a Local Authority Trading Company wholly 

owned by East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) and South Holland District Council (SHDC) and 

delivers their Financial Services, Human Resources, Customer Services, Revenues & Benefits, 

Information Technology and Digital services and Health & Safety.  Since its formation, in 2010, 

the company has delivered in excess of £21m in savings to the Councils. 

As part of PSPS’s recent 10 year contract extension with the Councils to 2030, a further £11m in 

savings are anticipated through its transformation plan and the Board of Directors and the 

existing shareholder Councils have agreed to explore growth opportunities with other Councils.   

PSPS has subsequently approached Boston Borough Council (the Council) to consider becoming 

a third shareholder in the company.   

The evidenced success and ability of PSPS to deliver its services provides the Council with an 

opportunity to benefit from a programme of transformation and efficiency savings of circa  

627k over 5 years, increasing to £1.8m over 10 years, which will enhance service delivery to the 

Page 15

Agenda Item 1



 

community and result in significantly improved resilience to the Council.  A by-product of this 

will be greater career development opportunities for the 57 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) posts 

that would transfer to PSPS.   

The only cost associated with joining as a shareholder of PSPS is a one off £6k cost for necessary 
legal representation to review and update the current Joint Venture Shareholders’ Agreement 
relating to PSPS (“JVSA”) to amend shareholder provisions, to review and update the Articles of 
Association of PSPS to include reference to the new shareholder, and to draft and finalise other 
associated documents, such as shareholder related documents.   
 
The proposal from PSPS has the potential to be a great opportunity for Boston, East Lindsey and 
South Holland Councils to collaborate through a strategic partnership in advance of further 
debates that are anticipated in regard to local government re-organisation.  
 
The proposal is in line with the Council’s 4th Priority within its 2020 to 2024 Corporate Strategy, 
in ‘delivering high quality services and maximising use of technology to support residents’, 
where ‘we will make better use of technology and data to reduce costs and improve 
performance and efficiency’.  
 
Subject to approval by Full Council, all parties are able to work towards a date of 1 April 2021 for 
the transition of services to begin.  If Boston is to agree to take a Shareholding in the company, 
this would need to be from 1 April in order to meet the agreement of the existing shareholders 
and to allow the arrangement to commence at the start of the new financial year, which is 
important for operational considerations. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To approve the proposal for Boston Borough Council to become a shareholder in Public 

Sector Partnership Services Limited and transfer its Financial Services, Human Resources, 

Customer Services, Revenues & Benefits, Information Technology & Digital services and 

Health & Safety teams into the company.  

 

2. To delegate to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, the 

agreement of, and signing of, the contract and associated documents to join Public Sector 

Partnership Services Limited including those linked to the pension fund 

 

3. To delegate to Chief Executive and S151 Officer, in consultation with the relevant Portfolio 

Holder, to approve or reject individual business cases for each element of the 

Transformation Plan. 

 

4. To approve the Portfolio Holder – Finance & Commercial and one Member from any of the 

Opposition Groups to be appointed to the 2 Director posts on PSPS and that appointment to 

be effective until May 2023.    

  

Page 16



 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

The evidenced success and ability of PSPS to deliver its services provides Boston with an 

opportunity to benefit from a programme of transformation and efficiency savings that will 

enhance service delivery to the community and result in significantly increased resilience to 

those services in scope, with greater career development opportunities for colleagues who 

transfer.  

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

For the Council to not become a shareholder in PSPS would have the following impact.   

 This would not be conducive with the future service delivery plans of the Strategic 

Alliance and the ability to operate seamlessly across both authorities.  

 This option would mean the Council would not benefit from the efficiency savings that 

can be achieved through becoming a shareholder. 

 The Council would need to invest in staffing resource in a number of the service areas 

within the scope of transfer to PSPS due to a significant lack of resilience at present, 

which creates a risk to the Council and the services it delivers.   

 The Council would be required to invest an additional circa £825k of capital funding 

into its Information Technology infrastructure, over 2 years, to maintain and improve 

the service as it wouldn’t benefit from the existing investment already made in IT 

provision by ELDC and SHDC.   

 The Council would be required to make significant investment in its support services in 

order to provide sufficient resilience and capacity.  This would result in financial cuts to 

front line services and/or stopping the delivery of some front line services altogether, 

in order to meet the £700k savings required in the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 

REPORT 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 Public Sector Partnership Services Limited (PSPS) is a Local Authority Trading Company or 
LATCo, which is wholly owned by South Holland (SHDC) and East Lindsey (ELDC) Councils 
and it delivers their Financial Services, Human Resources (HR), Customer Services, Revenues 
and Benefits, Information Technology and Digital services and Health & Safety.  PSPS 
currently employees 235 FTE employees.  

 
1.2 As a LATCo, PSPS is overseen by a Board of Directors appointed by each shareholder 

Council.  It operates at ‘arms-length’ with its activities and strategic direction influenced by 
a group of Stakeholders which are drawn from both Councils.  The delivery model is 
principally a collaborative partnership and services are delivered through a commissioning 
type arrangement; and underpinned by agreed standards of service that are reviewed on an 
annual basis to enable each Council to deliver their strategic plans and priorities.  The 
shareholder arrangements of the company are currently 63% (ELDC) and 37% (SHDC).  The 
percentage share is the representative cost and savings which each shareholder contributes 
and receives.  The annual contract cost of PSPS services is circa £8.6m. 

 

Page 17



 

1.3 Having recently completed its first ten year contract in 2020 and having delivered annual 

savings of £2.1m, PSPS has secured a further ten year contract to deliver its services to the 

Councils, with a commitment to an agreed new programme of transformation and 

efficiency savings that will generate cumulative savings over the twenty year contract 

period of circa £25.8m for the current shareholder councils.  As part of its new 10 year 

contract extension to 2030, the Board of Directors and the existing Shareholder Councils 

have agreed to explore growth opportunities with Councils across Lincolnshire.  In October 

2020, PSPS approached the Council, to explore such an opportunity for the Council to join 

its neighbouring Councils as a third shareholder of PSPS.  

 
2. GOVERNANCE ARANGEMENTS 

2.1 PSPS, since its initial approach to BBC in October 2020, has completed outline business case 

principles and these have subsequently been reviewed by stakeholder representatives at 

both ELDC and SHDC.  The Business Case principles and associated financial proposals have 

also been approved by the PSPS Board of Directors in December 2020.  During January, 

both ELDC and SHDC as the existing shareholders took formal decisions to invite the Council 

to become a third shareholder and both Councils have approved an invitation offer to BBC.  

2.2 ELDC and SHDC approved this offer on 19 & 20 January 2021 respectively and it then 
proceeded to the Council’s Corporate and Community Committee on 21 January and 
Cabinet on 27 January 2021 where it was also approved. 

 
2.3 Subject to approval by Full Council, all parties are able to work towards a date of 1 April 

2021 for the transition of services to begin.  If Boston is to agree to take a shareholding in 
the company, this would need to be from 1 April in order to meet the agreement of the 
existing shareholders and to allow the arrangement to commence at the start of the new 
financial year, which is important for operational considerations. 

   
2.4 Shareholding equity between ELDC and SHDC currently stands at 63%/37% respectively and 

should the Council join; this would change to 48% ELDC, 28% SHDC and 24% for the Council. 
 

2.5 The Council has worked side by side with ELDC and SHDC since October 2020 in line with 
the constitution with a view to going live as a shareholder from the 1st April, subject to 
Members making the decision.  All parties are able to work towards this date for the 
transition of services to begin, which would result in a transfer of approximately 57 FTE 
Boston posts to PSPS.   

 
2.6 The proposal has been developed into a formal business case from PSPS and its 

Shareholding Councils, and is appended (Appendix A).  The proposal supports the aims of 
the Strategic Partnership and will enable it to develop to its potential across the Alliance. 

 
2.7 The performance of PSPS would be reported through the Council’s performance and 

management framework and scrutiny programmes.  An annual Member briefing session 
would also be delivered.  
 

  

Page 18



 

3. PSPS BUSINESS PROPOSITION TO BBC 

3.1 The PSPS proposal at Appendix A, details the principals concerning the Management of 
People, the Operational Management and the Financial Implications.  

 
3.2 PSPS supports and develops its employees through its People Plan (Workforce 

Development Plan).  The Plan is inclusive and is focused around attracting and retaining 
talent, raising skills and standards, supporting health and wellbeing, rewarding and 
recognising its staff and working together for the future.  The Plan is appended for 
reference (Appendix B).  

 

3.3 Joining ELDC and SHDC as a shareholder in PSPS would provide the Council with a number 
of benefits through the PSPS proposal, including: 

 

3.3.1 The PSPS proposal would provide the Council a financial saving of circa £627k over 5 
years, increasing to £1.8m over 10 years.   

 

3.3.2 The savings detailed in the proposal would reduce the financial risks the Council 
currently faces within the medium term financial plan and the potential for further 
risks associated the financial outcomes of the pandemic.  The Council would be 
required to make significant investment in its support services in order to provide 
sufficient resilience and capacity.  This would result in financial cuts to front line 
services and/or stopping the delivery of some front line services altogether, in order 
to meet the £700k savings required in the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 

3.3.3 The Council, in the short term, requires investment in its IT and digital infrastructure 
and this proposal would deliver the investment needed over the course of two years 
at a cost of £634k, as opposed to £825k if the Council did this work ‘in house’.  This 
represents a capital saving of £191k, enabling the Council to invest in other projects 
prioritised within the Capital programme.  

 

3.3.4 The Council would be also benefit from new opportunities it hasn’t been able to 
achieve on its own in the past, including new Planning and Finance software, which 
would improve efficiency for both officers and the customer experience, again 
benefiting from the existing investment already made by ELDC and SHDC. 

 

3.3.5 The Council would be able to share future infrastructure development costs with 
ELDC and SHDC, resulting in further savings over the longer term. 

 

3.3.6 If the Council agrees to become the 3rd Shareholder in PSPS, it would retain a level 
of influence and control over the future direction of PSPS as a shareholder and 
stakeholder Council. 

 

3.3.7 PSPS has an ambition to grow, which could generate further future savings, should a 
4th Shareholder join the company. 

 

  

Page 19



 

3.3.8 The only cost associated with joining as a shareholder of PSPS is a one off £6k cost 
for necessary legal representation, to review and update the PSPS JVSA and Articles 
of Association, to amend shareholder provisions, and to draft and finalise other 
associated documents. 

 

3.3.9 The proposal builds in a greater level of resilience in the provision of back office 
services, as the Council has in recent years struggled to recruit to senior and 
professional posts.  PSPS working across a consortium of 3 authorities, would 
benefit the Council, because PSPS will have staff initially able to cover a vacancy 
when it arises and it would also have a stronger pull within the market place when 
recruiting. 

 

3.3.10 A number of the services within scope lack resilience due to the fact they are small 
and are heavily reliant on a small number of colleagues, which creates a risk to the 
Council and the services it delivers; as well as placing undue pressure on a small 
number of key individuals. The PSPS proposal addresses this point. 

 

3.3.11 The proposal would therefore also enable the Council to retain and potentially 
improve the current levels of performance across its back office services, in support 
of Boston’s local communities.  

 

3.3.12 There are 5 Posts associated with the Council’s ‘back office’ service that don’t 

transfer over to PSPS.  Transferring services to the company will create a level of 

capacity for those officers to support the delivery of services and projects.  The 

additional capacity has a notional value of £285k over 5 years and £570k over 10 

years.        

3.3.13 Working across a consortium of neighbouring authorities, PSPS would also be in a 
better position to safeguard the jobs of the Council’s staff transferring into the 
company in the longer term and can also offer a wider range of opportunities for 
career progression than the Council can offer staff. 

 

3.3.14 The proposal is in line with the Council’s 4th Priority within its 2020 to 2024 

Corporate Strategy, in ‘delivering high quality services and maximising use of 

technology to support residents’, where ‘we will make better use of technology and 

data to reduce costs and improve performance and efficiency’. 

3.3.15 The proposal from PSPS has the potential for the Council, ELDC and SHDC to 
collaborate through a strategic partnership in advance of further debates that are 
anticipated in regard to local government re-organisation.  

 

3.3.16 The Council joining PSPS would be a good indication of its intent to work 
collaboratively with neighbouring Councils, for the benefit of its communities. 

 
  

Page 20



 

4. TRANSFORMATION  

4.1 The Council in recent years has transformed and maintained the services it delivers, whilst 

also continuing to make the necessary financial savings within its Medium Term Financial 

Plan.  However, as the Council has become more agile in its development and delivery of its 

services, it has now come to a point where there is a pressing need to invest in upgrading 

the Council’s IT infrastructure and a need to build further capacity in managing and 

maintaining its IT systems to ensure they remain safe and secure in line with cyber security 

requirements. 

4.2 The PSPS proposal gives the Council the opportunity to benefit from an IT infrastructure, 

which is being developed to support two neighbouring Council’s and is within the existing 

joint transformation programme.  PSPS can implement the advancements the Council 

requires at a reduced cost, due to investments already made by ELDC and SHDC and also 

economies of scale going forward.  Partnering with PSPS would mean the required 

infrastructure could be delivered at a much lesser cost than the Council seeking to do this 

on its own.   

4.3 Updating the Council’s IT infrastructure system through PSPS’s established programme for 

ELDC and SHDC would speed up the delivery of much needed infrastructure improvements 

and resilience for the Council.   Good use of technology has the ability to free up capacity in 

many areas of the organisation to enable teams to better meet service demands, 

particularly where in a post COVID working environment there will be continued 

agile/flexible working solutions required. 

4.4 PSPS are currently implementing a transformation programme for ELDC and SHDC, which 

includes upgrading its finance system, HR and payroll system for online recruitment, it is 

rolling out Microsoft Office 365, automation for Revenue & Benefit services, upgrading 

telephony, a business efficiency and alignment project and various smaller shared digital 

projects.  ELDC and SHDC initially invested £4.7m in upgrading and aligning digital systems 

back in 2010.  As part of the agreed PSPS contract extension to 2030, a further £1.5m has 

subsequently been committed into a PSPS transformation programme to ensure the 

systems outlined above, continue to meet the current and future needs of both 

organisations.   

 

CONCLUSION 
 

In conclusion, the evidenced success and ability of PSPS to deliver its services would provide the 

Council with a further opportunity to enable its ‘One Team’ Strategic Alliance and Boston would 

benefit from a programme of transformation and efficiency savings on a greater scale with partner 

local authorities.  

The report details a number of benefits for the Council by joining ELDC and SHDC as a shareholder 

in PSPS including financial savings / improvements, reduced costs through a shared operating 

model and efficient use of public funds and significant capital savings with regard to upgrading the 

IT infrastructure.  There are also benefits around improved resilience of services and PSPS’s 

experience of service delivery to shared partners, systems and software alignment.  The Council 

will also be able to influence the future direction of PSPS through Board Membership and a 

Page 21



 

stakeholder status.  These benefits directly support the ‘One Team’ approach the strategic alliance 

was set up to achieve whilst also retaining a focus on key retained internal/delivery services and 

public priorities. 

The only cost associated with joining as a shareholder of PSPS is a one off £6k cost for necessary 
legal representation, to review and update the PSPS JVSA and Articles of Association, to amend 
shareholder provisions, and to draft and finalise other associated documents. 
 
The proposal from PSPS has the potential to be a great opportunity for the Council, ELDC and SHDC 

to collaborate through a strategic partnership, in advance of further debates that are anticipated in 

regard to local government re-organisation. 

  

Page 22



 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
 The full PSPS financial proposal is appended (Appendix A).  The revenue savings equate 
to £1.8m over 10 years and the capital savings for the required IT works total £191k. 

  

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

The legal implications for BBC becoming a shareholder in PSPS Limited would be detailed within 

a Joint Venture & Shareholders’ Agreement (JVSA) and Articles of Association, the process of 

which would be as follows: 

1. To review and update the current Joint Venture Shareholders’ Agreement relating to 
PSPS (“JVSA”) to amend shareholder provisions. 

 
2. To review and update the Articles of Association of PSPS to include reference to the new 

shareholder. 
 

3. To draft and finalise other associated documents, such as shareholder related 
documents. 

 
Legal representation would also submit a form SH01 to Companies House regarding the 
amendment of shareholders and allocation of shares.  
 
 

COMMERCIAL CONFIDENTIALITY 

The contents of Appendix A to this report is confidential due to commercial confidentiality of a 

third party.  To disclose places the Council and individual members who may have disclosed at 

risk from claims for damages arising from any consequences of a breach.   

The Business Case is exempt from publication under paragraphs 3 and 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 

12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None arising from this report. 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

An Equality Impact Assessment would be undertaken as part of the TUPE transfer process, 

should the PSPS proposal be agreed at Full Council. 

 

  

Page 23



 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

Any potential impacts associated with performance, human resources, risk management & 

health and safety would be addressed within the risk register.   

 

CONSULTATION 

Engagement around PSPS’s approach to the Council started in early October 2020 with the delivery 

of two informal briefings to the Council’s political representatives, initially to Cabinet followed by 

an All Member briefing session on 16 November 2020.  The briefings focussed on PSPS’s operation 

and provided an opportunity for members to find out more about the company and its approach to 

service delivery.   

In preparation for the PSPS proposal, the Council subsequently provided the company with a range 

of data and information in order for PSPS to better understand the current delivery and 

performance arrangements for the services delivered through the Council.  

The PSPS proposal concerns the operational delivery of services and to this end PSPS has also 

attended service specific briefing sessions hosted by the Chief Executive on the 7 & 8 December 

respectively.  At the briefings information about the company and its delivery arrangements was 

provided to employees who would be within the scope of TUPE. 

Further informal staff engagement is ongoing and has been undertaken through respective staff 

forums that started week commencing 4 January with information being shared with staff that 

cover topics such as terms and conditions, the company, its People Plan (workforce Development 

Plan), Culture, its delivery arrangements and the political process being undertaken.  Managers 

affected by the proposal also met with the Chief Executive on the proposal and one to one sessions 

between them and PSPS were also offered and undertaken during the first two weeks in January.     

All questions and answers being generated are being recorded and posted for all staff to access 

and this informal engagement will continue as necessary, until February’s Full Council meeting.  If 

the PSPS proposal is agreed at Full Council, a formal consultation process would then start. 

Professional views of the PSPS Proposal from affected Services are appended (Appendix C). 

Union engagement also began in late 2020; to ensure all staff queries regarding the process being 

undertaken and PSPS itself are addressed at the earliest opportunity and the proposal also went 

before the Council’s Corporate and Community Committee on 21 January.   

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A PSPS – Boston Borough Council Business case & Financial Proposal 

Summary Business Case (Exempt from publication under paragraphs 3 and 4 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972) 

APPENDIX B PSPS People Services Plan 

APPENDIX C Professional views of the PSPS Proposal from affected Services 

Page 24



 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report.   

 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Name of body Date 

Corporate & Community Scrutiny 

Committee 

21 January 2021 

Cabinet 27 January 2021 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Phil Perry – Assistant Director – Support Services & 

Partnerships.   

phil.perry@boston.gov.uk  

Signed off by: Alison Penn – Deputy Chief Executive – People. 

alison.penn@e-lindsey.gov.uk    

Approved for publication: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder – 

Finance & Commercial.  

jonathan.noble@boston.gov.uk  

  

Page 25

mailto:phil.perry@boston.gov.uk
mailto:alison.penn@e-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:jonathan.noble@boston.gov.uk


 

FINANCE PROFORMA 

PROFORMA FOR APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 

(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 

 

FROM:   

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   
REPORT DATE:  
 
OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Revenue      
      
      
      

Total Revenue Cost (100,162)  38,474 210,302 247,004 231,847 

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total capital cost 
(£685,000) 
 
Revenue savings    
£627,465 
 

 

    

   Enter Council or 
Cabinet/Executive here 

 

 
Financial Services Comments 
 
 
Risk 
 
 
 
Procurement 
 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 

 

 

This FP is valid for 3 months from 

FP date 

If this FP is no longer required please 

advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original report it 

may invalidate this document, it must be 

reviewed by Finance. 

   

 
 

Page 26



Document is Restricted

Page 27

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



PEOPLE

PLAN

2 0 2 0 - 2 0 2 3

W O R K I N G  T O G E T H E R  F O R  O U R  F U T U R E

Page 41



Page 42



E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y

Public Sector Partnership Services is  embarking on a new ten year contract which will deliver an

ambitious programme of transformation. To do this we need to aim high within a challenging and

competitive market-place, it is critical that we attract,  retain, develop and support a committed and

motivated workforce to enable us to achieve our ambitions.

 

We have developed our People Plan which sets out the organisations five key priorities over the next three

years, it delivers  a structured approach to measure the efforts and success on the organisations

commitment to our people.

I am committed to making PSPS an attractive employer of choice and a great place to work, where we all

demonstrate our Mission, Focus and Values in everything that we do.

I want our customers to recognise that the services we deliver are excellent and that we make a positive

difference. Our future success will be underpinned by three simple priorities -

 

1.     Deliver and Perform

2.     Challenge and Improve

3.     Innovate and Grow

 

We will be an ambitious, modern and forward thinking organisation which supports delivery and services

across the local government landscape and to local communities.

 

Each one of us should remember the last time we experienced excellent service from a person in another

organisation. If we translate that into being the best we can be; then we can make our customers last

experience of excellent service be from PSPS. That’s the challenge.

 

Lewis Ducket

Chief Executive

Public Sector Partnership Services

 

Our people are vital to the

organisations future success; and our future

success  will only be achieved through  our

people

2
Page 43



M I S S I O N ,  F O C U S  &  V A L U E S

Service Delivery

Transformation

Engagement

People

Performance

O U R  M I S S I O N

'Together we will provide high quality professional

services which achieve outstanding performance,

satisfaction and confidence for  our customers,

communities and colleagues'

O U R  F O C U S

O U R  V A L U E S

Professionalism

One Team

Innovative

Supportive

Excellence

3 Page 44



O U R  F O C U S

Our people plan aims to support and empower our people in taking PSPS to the next level

through our continued commitment to; wellbeing, development and growing a diverse and

inclusive community, embracing change to realise personal and organisational ambitions.

It is through our people that PSPS will achieve its strategic goals and deliver an excellent

customer experience. To succeed in delivering our ambitions transformation plans, we need

the right people with the right skills and values in place at the right time.

We need exceptional leaders who champion our culture, live our values and facilitate high

performance, alongside a highly talented, diverse, skilled and motivated workforce who are

empowered and engaged through working in a developmental, collaborative, inclusive and

supportive working environment.

We endeavour to be future focused in our people engagement strategies both for our existing

establishment and to attract the most dynamic and innovative people to join our community;

people who are engaged in the achievement of our shared ambitions and take pride in their

place of work and wider community.

It is only because of our people’s commitment, drive and talent that we are able to achieve

this.

Nikki Harding

Head of HR & Organisational Development

One of the most productive things HR teams and

managers can do is to create a strong culture that

empowers its employees to be themselves and

deliver exceptional services

Nik��

4

Page 45



E N A B L I N G   U S  T O  S U C C E E D

We recognise and

value our people as

our most important

asset in achieving 

our success.

For PSPS to realise the full potential of our people as

individuals and members of teams we need to develop and

refine our internal people processes, ensuring they facilitate

high performance and enhance our working environment to

embrace diversity and foster inclusivity.

PSPS's core organisational strategies set out the vision to

provide outstanding performance, satisfaction and

confidence for our customer, communities and colleagues.

To achieve these strategies we need to continuously strive to

be recognised for delivering an exceptional customer

experience, where our customers are at the heart of what we

do.

We must focus on quality, whilst ensuring financial

sustainability and continue to grow our  strong

organisational reputation.

We will need to work collaboratively to support key

transformation programmes and we need to ensure

business critical projects are underpinned by robust, people-

focused approaches that are fit for purpose for our evolving

organisation.

We will enable change in a supportive way that rewards and

recognises individuals appropriately.

E N A B L I N G   U S

TO  S U C C E E D

5 Page 46



E N A B L I N G  U S  T O  S U C C E E D

-      Inspired by each other

-      Engaged through reward, recognition and development opportunities

-      Proud to work for a transformational service provider

-      Committed to delivering excellence, and to putting our customers at the heart of all

        activity 

-      Empowered and supported as individuals and as team members to achieve high                     

        performance

-      Adaptable to change, enabling PSPS to achieve transformation which  is  sustainable

        and effective

-      Committed to valuing diversity and inclusion

Attract & Retain Talent

T O  E N A B L E  U S  T O  S U C C E E D   W E  N E E D  O U R  P E O P L E  T O  B E :

A S  A N  O R G A N I S A T I O N  W E  N E E D   T O :

1

2

3

4

5

Raise Skills & Standards

Support Health & Wellbeing

Reward & Recognise Our People

Work Together for Our Future

6Page 47



A T T R A C T I N G  &  R E T A I N I N G  T A L E N T

We want to attract,

identify and retain

high-performing

talent making us an

employer of choice

for exceptional

people. 

PSPS is committed to having the right people with the right

skills and values in place at the right time which means we

need to attract, identify and retain high-performing talent.

To  do this we need to:

AT T R A C T I N G

&  R E TA I N I N G

TA L E N T

1

2

3

4

5

Build our brand as a employer of choice and

develop creative approaches to secure the best

talent 

Strategically target the attraction of exceptional

talent from across our region

Foster a developmental, collaborative, inclusive,

diverse and supportive working environment

Work in partnership with senior managers and

leaders to deliver workforce plans

Develop induction approaches to accelerate the

integration of new staff to our organisation and

our values

7 Page 48



A T T R A C T I N G  &  R E T A I N I N G  T A L E N T

KEY OBJECTIVES MEASURES OF SUCCESS

Develop a clear and sustainable

Recruitment Strategy that encourages and

enables the development of internal talent

and the identification of external talent

Use appropriate tools to support  applicant

tracking and the creation of a talent pool

Develop a employee referral

programme,  supporting the attraction of

'Passive Candidates'

Build our employer brand through social

channels including LinkedIn and Glass Door

Develop a clear understanding of what high

performance means within each service

area, linking this to recruitment and talent

management

Develop clear approaches to the

identification and development of

high  performing talent,   Establish clear

career pathways and opportunities for

progression across PSPS

Identify future workforce needs ensuring

PSPS has clear succession planning,

mobility opportunities including internal

secondments, retention and  talent

management

Encourage 'Boomeranging' by building  a

culture that supports employees to pursue

their passions outside of PSPS and return

when the time and opportunity is right

Work in partnership with local Universities

and Colleges to attract talent

Ability to report on application completion

rates, cost of hire, time to hire and

candidate response rates

Automated recruitment process supporting

- better quality hires

- shorter time to hire

- shorter on-boarding

- reduction in cost to hire

Increase in the number of external 

applications received and the number of job

offers accepted

Roles advertised internally to increase the

number of internal promotions and

secondment opportunities 

Succession plans in place for leadership

roles which are actively managed

An increase in the number of colleagues

returning to PSPS

An increase in the number of apprentices

and graduates within PSPS

Implementation of the employee referral

programme with successful candidates

entering the organisation through this route

Increase in the number of followers on

LinkedIn and positive reviews on Glass Door

8Page 49



R A I S I N G  S K I L L S  &  S T A N D A R D S

We want to

implement effective

organisational

development to

deliver our vision

supporting our

people to invest in

PSPS for the long

term

PSPS will look to improve and maintain learning, leadership

and development to continually enhance opportunities for its

people to progress their careers and further develop their

skills to enable the organisation to be at the leading edge of

service delivery.

To  do this we need to:

R A I S I N G

S K I L L S  &

S TA N D A R D S

1

2

3

4

5

Continue to promote training across PSPS

working with our leaders to improve

people engagement

Review, evaluate and refresh Leadership and

Management Programmes ensuring they reflect

the organisations strategic direction

Develop our leaders to help them move towards

a service-led organisation based on

accountability, devolved responsibility and a

more commercial outlook

Support the organisation to implement quality

Performance Development Reviews which hold

people to account, and develop potential

Establish a ‘living our values’ approach and as

part of our staff engagement activity develop a

process for assessing our culture

9 Page 50



R A I S I N G  S K I L L S  A N D  S T A N D A R D S

KEY OBJECTIVES MEASURES OF SUCCESS

Develop a clear Learning and Development

Strategy that supports the development of

all our people

Develop a process to identify leaders of the

future who can operate in a new

organisational environment characterised

by innovation and change

Review and improve the Performance

Review Process to ensure that our people

are developed and focused on delivering an

outstanding service

Continue to seek the  views of  our people

and provide opportunities for feedback

through forums and briefings

Seek the views of our people via the

intranet and annual Staff Survey

Continue to promote training ensuring that

processes are user friendly, and

that  training delivery methods are

appropriate to the organisations busy

environment

Promote access to coaching and mentoring

to support performance improvement and

the demonstration of desired values and

behaviours.

Support the development and growth of

newly appointed and  promoted leaders

particularly in business critical areas

Support transformation activity  enabling

leaders and managers to be ready for and

effectively manage change

Implementation of the Learning and

Development Strategy

Consistently achieve a 95% target of

completed Performance Development

Reviews

Improve and maintain  the people

engagement score as evidenced in the PSPS

Staff Survey

See an increase in the overall staff

satisfaction across the organisation

Embedded values and expected standards

of behaviour across the organisation

Increased participation rates in leadership

development programmes

Increase in  the rate of compliance with

statutory and mandatory training

requirements

Increase the pool of coaches and mentors

within  PSPS

Joint working arrangements  for training

and development activity

Increase the % of our people who receive

job-relevant  training, learning or

development

1 0Page 51



H E A L T H  &  W E L L B E I N G

We want to support

our people  to live a

healthy life, with a

firm focus on

wellbeing to

enhance the working

experience

H E A LT H  &

W E L L B E I N G

PSPS will continue to develop a range of wellbeing

initiatives working together to meet the holistic health and

wellbeing needs of our people.

Enhancing the working experience; leading to greater

productivity, higher engagement and employees who flourish

both in and outside of the working environment.

To  do this we need to:

1

2

3

4

5
Explore the introduction of early interventions to

support our people

Develop a strategy that makes workplace

wellbeing everyone’s responsibility

Continue to work with Occupational Health and

Counselling Services as well as leaders to

improve attendance rates

Raise awareness of achieving staff wellbeing

gaining the Bronze North Lincolnshire Healthy

Workplace Award

Recognise that our people have differing cultural

and ethical needs external to work and that

this  may  need to be accommodated in the

workplace

1 1 Page 52



H E A L T H  &  W E L L B E I N G

KEY OBJECTIVES MEASURES OF SUCCESS

Develop a clear Health and Wellbeing

Strategy that supports our people

Expect everyone within PSPS to support our

peoples mental health and wellbeing

Expect mental health and wellbeing to be a

strategic priority for leaders across the

organisation

Continue to review the organisations

environment and culture to ensure that it

impacts more positively on our peoples

mental health and wellbeing

Work proactively in partnership with

professional services to promote improved

mental health and wellbeing

Deliver effective support for our people that

is easy to access

Create an environment that aims to further

reduce the stigma associated with mental

health and promote positive mental health

and wellbeing within PSPS

Use data effectively to provide

support,  helping the organisation to

monitor trends and plan improvements

Develop wellness action plans as a

proactive tool for our people to use to

support their own wellbeing

Review relevant polices to ensure that they

support the organisations wellbeing

ambitions

Implementation of the Health and

Wellbeing Strategy

Achieve and sustain PSPS attendance

targets across each service area

Achieve the Bronze North Lincolnshire

Healthy Workplace Award

Work towards the  Silver and Gold North

Lincolnshire Healthy Workplace Awards

Signed the ‘Time to Change’ pledge

with increased  mental health disclosures

Improvement in the % of staff who

recommend PSPS as a good place to work 

Increased staff engagement with wellbeing

and equality, diversity and inclusion

activities

Enhanced counselling facilities, training and

other online resources to support wellbeing

Expansion of available training relating to

mental health 

Promotion of the benefits of a physically

active life; facilitating a programme

of  health and wellbeing  improvement

activities as part of national and local health

campaigns

Access to discounted gym memberships for

all our people

1 2Page 53



R E W A R D  &  R E C O G N I T I O N

R E WA R D  &

R E C O G N I T I O N

PSPS will work with our people to further consider

opportunities to recognise and reward those who innovate,

and go above and beyond their roles to deliver excellence and

support the values of the organisation.

We will encourage and recognise those people who are

motivated to achieve and deliver results.

To  do this we need to:

1

2

3

4

5

Reinforce the PSPS values by acknowledging

achievements which embody those values and

behaviours.

Develop a total reward approach which is valued

by our people and facilitates organisational

objectives

Clearly communicate our reward offer so that

prospective and current people recognise the

elements which make up the organisations 

reward package

Work in partnership with leaders to explore

where reward practices can be developed to

respond to emerging business needs

Ensure that  the  Total Reward Strategy helps

position us as an employer of choice

We want to

recognise and value

the hard work,

commitment and

achievements of all

our people

1 3 Page 54



R E W A R D  A N D  R E C O G N I T I O N

KEY OBJECTIVES MEASURES OF SUCCESS

Develop a Total Reward Strategy  that helps

position PSPS as an employer of choice and

which is valued by our people 

Ensure that the Total Reward strategy

underpins the recruitment, development

and retention of talent

Ensure transparency around the total

reward package and how reward is

determined

Apply a consistent framework to reward

which recognises different roles

Further reinforce the embedding of equality

in our approach towards reward

Promote the total reward package both

financial and non-financial including 

- Base and Variable Pay 

- Benefits Package 

- Career Development Opportunities 

- Work Life Balance

- Health and Wellbeing 

- Intrinsic Benefits 

- Recognition Schemes 

- Salary Sacrifice Schemes

Develop clear initiatives which facilitate

career development and reward

progression

Review and consider new and emerging pay

and reward initiatives across varying sectors

Implementation of the Total Reward

Strategy

Increased staff satisfaction with pay, reward

and benefits

Increased take up of new and  additional

benefits and schemes

Increased staff engagement through the

annual Staff Survey

Increase in the number of successful hires

and the retention of our  high performing

people

Clear and measurable incentives and

rewards in place for all our people

Celebration of our peoples achievements at

the  Annual PSPS All Staff Awards and

Monthly Staff Recognition Awards

Delivery of a strategic program portfolio

approach to include four key areas

-  Corporate Recognition,  Performance

Recognition,  Milestone Recognition and

Localised Recognition

Delivery of annual Total Reward Statements

for all our people

Delivery of transparent  Gender Pay

Reporting and Salary Bench-marking 

1 4Page 55



W O R K I N G  T O G E T H E R  F O R  O U R  F U T U R E

Page 56


	Agenda
	A. MINUTES
	1 PROPOSAL FOR BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL TO BECOME A SHAREHOLDER IN PUBLIC SECTOR PARTNERSHIP SERVICES LIMITED
	EXEMPT Appendix A - PSPS – Boston Borough Council Business Case & Financial Proposal
	Appendix B - PSPS People Services Plan


